
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

MEMPHIS PUBLISHING 
COMPANY, publisher of 
The Commercial Appeal 

and 

MARC PERRUSQUIA 

495 Union Avenue, 
Memphis, TN 38103 

Plaintiffs, 

FEDERAL BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION 

935 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20535 

Defendant. 

Case No. 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

Plaintiffs Memphis Publishing Company, as the publisher of The Commercial Appeal of 

Memphis, TN, and Marc Perrusquia (collectively, "Plaintiffs") bring this suit against the Federal 

Bureau of Investigation ("FBI"). In support, Plaintiffs state as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This action is brought pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"), 5 

U.S.C. § 552, as amended by the OPEN Government Act of 2007, for declaratory, injunctive, 

and other appropriate relief, seeking principally, the immediate production of records concerning 

Ernest C. Withers ("Mr. Withers"). 
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2. Mr. Withers was a noted photographer of the civil rights movement in the 1960s. 

It is now widely and publicly known that, during that time, Mr. Withers also was an FBI 

informant, advising the government of the plans and activities of civil rights leaders. 

3. Plaintiff Memphis Publishing Company, through its employee Plaintiff Marc 

Perrusquia, a reporter for The Commercial Appeal, requested a copy of all FBI documents 

concerning Mr. Withers, including his informant file and photographs taken by Mr. Withers and 

provided to the FBI. Plaintiffs have requested this information to help determine what our 

government was up to when it recruited citizens to surreptitiously gather information about the 

civil rights movement. 

4. The information requested by Plaintiffs is subject to public disclosure under 

FOIA. Nevertheless, the FBI has failed to produce documents responsive to Plaintiffs' request, 

citing various FOIA exemptions. 

5. Nearly a half a century later, serious questions remain about the government's 

motives and actions in spying on the civil rights movement. The country continues to examine 

whether the government's surveillance of civil rights leaders reflected a genuine concern for 

public safety or, instead, an effort to harass citizens and squelch protest. The documents 

Plaintiffs seek concerning Mr. Withers' involvement in domestic surveillance will further the 

public's understanding of this unresolved issue. In turn, public examination of this issue will 

inform the ongoing debate about whether the government has gone too far in current domestic 

surveillance operations. 

6. Accordingly, Plaintiffs seek relief, including (i) a declaration that the records 

sought are subject to disclosure under FOIA; (ii) an affirmative injunction requiring the FBI to 
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produce all responsive records; and (iii) an award of reasonable attorneys' fees and other 

litigation costs. 

PARTIES 

7. Plaintiff Memphis Publishing Company is an organization incorporated in 

Delaware with its office at 495 Union Avenue, Memphis, Tennessee, 38103. Plaintiff is the 

owner and publisher of The Commercial Appeal. The Commercial Appeal is the predominant 

daily newspaper of Memphis, Tennessee and its surrounding metropolitan area. 

8. Plaintiff Marc Perrusquia is a reporter for The Commercial Appeal and a citizen 

of Tennessee. 

9. Defendant FBI is a component of the Department of Justice, a department of the 

Executive Branch of the United States, and an agency within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 

552(f)(1). The FBI has possession and control of the records requested by Plaintiffs. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

10. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action and personal jurisdiction 

over the FBI pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B). The Court also has jurisdiction over this 

action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331. 

11. Venue is proper under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) because the FOIA requests in 

question were propounded upon the FBI's District of Columbia Headquarters and some of the 

documents, materials and things requested, but not yet produced, are believed to be located in the 

FBI's Washington, D.C. offices. 
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

12. On February 12, 2008, Plaintiffs submitted a FOIA request to the FBI, requesting 

all FBI records concerning Mr. Withers. In their request, Plaintiffs informed the FBI that Mr. 

Withers died on October 15, 2007. A copy of this request is attached as Exhibit A. 

13. The FBI first responded to this request on March 12, 2009, releasing 115 pages of 

materials. These materials pertained to a 1977 corruption probe targeting Mr. Withers. 

14. The FBI withheld certain documents and redacted others, referring in a 

conclusory and vague fashion to claimed exemptions to justify these withholdings. A copy of 

the cover letter from the FBI is attached as Exhibit B. 

15. The FBI's March 12, 2009 response did not acknowledge the existence of an 

informant file pertaining to Mr. Withers, and the FBI did not provide a Vaughn index specifying 

and identifying those documents withheld and stating the statutory FOIA exemption claimed. 

The FBI also failed to provide the reasonably segregable portions of the withheld records as 

required by 5 U.S.C. § 552(b). 

16. The documents released on March 12, 2009, included a document with Mr. 

Withers' FBI informant number, ME-338-R, and with a reference to Mr. Withers as a "CI." A 

copy of this document released by the FBI is attached as Exhibit C. 

17. The FBI later released a document with a handwritten notation "Conf.Infor." on a 

1978 search slip for documents concerning Mr. Withers. A copy of this document released by 

the FBI is attached as Exhibit D. 

18. The documents released by the FBI confirm that Mr. Withers was an FBI 

informant. 
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19. On May 5, 2009, Plaintiffs appealed the FBI's decision to withhold requested 

materials concerning Mr. Withers to the Department of Justice. A copy of the administrative 

appeal is attached as Exhibit E. 

20. On May 22, 2009, Plaintiffs amended their appeal to specifically challenge the 

FBI's denial of Plaintiffs' request for Mr. Withers' informant file. A copy of this amendment to 

Plaintiffs' FOIA appeal is attached as Exhibit F. 

21. On July 7, 2009, Plaintiffs further amended their appeal to specifically challenge 

the FBI's denial of Plaintiffs' request for photographs taken by Mr. Withers and provided to the 

FBI. A copy of this amendment to the FOIA appeal is attached as Exhibit G. 

22. On March 8, 2010, the FBI released 254 pages of additional documents 

concerning Mr. Withers, again withholding requested materials under a variety of conclusory and 

vague references to exemptions. The information released again pertained primarily to Mr. 

Withers' involvement in a public corruption probe during the 1970s. A copy of the cover letter 

from the FBI is attached as Exhibit H. 

23. The FBI's March 8, 2010 response did not acknowledge the existence of an 

informant file pertaining to Mr. Withers, and the FBI did not provide a Vaughn index specifying 

and identifying those documents withheld and stating the statutory FOIA exemption claimed. 

The FBI also failed to provide the reasonably segregable portions of the withheld records as 

required by 5 U.S.C. § 552(b). 

24. On April 21, 2010, Plaintiffs, through counsel, filed an administrative appeal 

again challenging the FBI's decision to withhold requested materials. A copy of this appeal is 

attached as Exhibit I. 
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25. On August 31, 2010, the Department of Justice Office of Information Policy 

("Department of Justice") sent a letter expressing its opinion that the FBI's response was correct 

and that only five responsive, non-duplicative pages were withheld in full. A copy of this 

response is attached as Exhibit J. 

26. In this response, the Department of Justice failed to acknowledge the existence of 

an informant file pertaining to Mr. Withers, and no Vaughn index was provided for these 

materials. 

27. Plaintiffs have exhausted their administrative remedies under FOIA. 

28. On September 12, 2010, The Commercial Appeal published an article outlining 

Mr. Withers' activities as an FBI informant. A copy of the article is attached as Exhibit K. This 

reporting included analysis by leading civil rights scholars of documents previously made public 

by the FBI and Mr. Withers' informant number released by the FBI in its March 12, 2009 

response to Plaintiffs' FOIA request. 

29. Subsequently, a number of other news outlets, including the New York Times, the 

Washington Post, and National Public Radio, published similar articles about Mr. Withers' role 

as an FBI informant; therefore, this information is clearly now in the public domain. A selection 

of these articles is attached as Exhibit L. 

30. On September 28, 2010, Plaintiffs, through counsel, engaged the mediation 

services offered by the Office of Government Information Services ("OGIS") for assistance 

resolving this dispute over the FBI's denial of a substantial number of records responsive to its 

FOIA request. 

31. On October 18, 2010, OGIS sent Plaintiffs' counsel a letter reporting that the FBI 

refused to engage in the mediation process. According to OGIS, the FBI would only disclose 
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additional information about Mr. Withers' informant activities with his "consent or under 

circumstances that the FBI does not believe apply to this case." A copy of the OGIS letter is 

attached as Exhibit M. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 

(Declaratory Judgment: Failure to Produce Records—5 U.S.C. § 552) 

32. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

33. FOIA requires that, upon proper request for disclosure of records, an agency 

"shall make the records promptly available to any person." 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3). 

34. The documents referenced above are agency records within the FBI's control. 

35. Plaintiffs properly requested production of said documents. 

36. Plaintiffs, as a news agency and reporter, are entitled by law to obtain copies of 

the said documents. 

37. The FBI improperly relied on exemptions under 5 U.S.C. § 552 (b) in withholding 

responsive records. 

38. Accordingly, the FBI has failed to produce the documents or portions of the 

documents in violation of FOIA. 

39. Plaintiffs request a declaratory judgment that the FBI has violated FOIA and that 

Plaintiffs are entitled to immediately receive the documents referenced above. 

COUNT II 
(Injunctive Relief: Failure to Produce Records—5 U.S.C. § 552) 

40. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 
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41. FOIA provides this Court with "jurisdiction to enjoin [the FBI] from withholding 

agency records and to order the production of any agency records improperly withheld from the 

complainant." 5 U.S.C. § 552 (a)(4)(B). 

42. The documents referenced above are agency records within the FBI's control. 

43. Plaintiffs properly requested production of said documents. Plaintiffs, as a news 

agency and reporter, are entitled by law to obtain copies of the said documents. 

44. The FBI improperly relied on exemptions under 5 U.S.C. § 552 (b)(5) in 

withholding responsive records. 

45. Accordingly, the FBI has failed to produce the documents in violation of FOIA. 

46. Plaintiffs request that, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B), the Court enjoin the 

FBI from withholding the documents referenced above, and that it order the FBI to immediately 

produce the documents to Plaintiffs. 

COUNT THREE 
(Improper Denial of Fee Waiver-5 U.S.C. § 552) 

47. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all previous paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein. 

48. Plaintiffs have demonstrated that they are entitled to a waiver of fees associated 

with processing their FOIA request because they are members of the news media reporting on 

matters of public concern, disclosure of responsive records will likely contribute significantly to 

public understanding of the operations or activities of the government, and the request is not 

primarily in the commercial interest of Plaintiffs 

49. Therefore, the FBI violated FOIA's mandate, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A), 

to grant a fee waiver when it denied Plaintiffs' request for a waiver of fees. 
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REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court: 

(A) Enter an affirmative injunction that directs the FBI to immediately provide to 

Plaintiffs a Vaughn index, inventorying all responsive records and itemizing and justifying all 

withholdings; 

(B) Declare that the FBI's failure to provide responsive documents is unlawful under 

FOIA; 

(C) Declare that the FBI's failure to provide reasonably segregable portions of the 

withheld responsive records is unlawful under FOIA; 

(D) Enter an affirmative injunction that directs the FBI to make all requested records 

to Plaintiffs, as provided by 5 U.S.C. § 522(a)(4)(B), unredacted and without further delay; 

(E) Expedite this action in every way pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552 and 28 U.S.C. § 

1657; 

(F) Declare that Plaintiffs are entitled to a full fee waiver under 5 U.S.C. § 552 

(a)(4)(A)(iii) for Plaintiffs' FOIA request; 

(G) Award Plaintiffs their costs and reasonable attorneys' fees in this action, as 

provided by 5 U.S.C. § 522(a)(4)(E), as amended by the OPEN Government Act; and 

(H) Grant such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 
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Dated: November 3, 2010 Respectfully Submitted, 

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP 

Charles D. Tobin #455593 
Christine N. Walz #996643 
2099 Pennsylvania Ave., N.W., Suite 100 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
Telephone: (202) 955-3000 
Facsimile: (202) 955-5564 

Counsel for Plaintiffs Memphis 
Publishing Company and Marc Perrusquia 

Charles D. Tobin 
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